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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT 
OF OKLAHOMA 

 
 
 

CADDO NATION OF OKLAHOMA   ) 
       ) 
Plaintiff,      ) 
       ) 
vs.       ) Case No. 5:16-cv-00559-W 
       ) 
WICHITA AND AFFILIATED TRIBES,  ) 
TERRI PARTON, in her    ) 
official capacity as Tribal President  )  
of Wichita and Affiliated Tribes,    ) 
JESSE E. JONES, in his official capacity as ) 
Vice President of the Wichita and Affiliated  ) 
Tribes,       ) 
MYLES STEPHENSON, JR., in his official  ) 
capacity as Secretary of the Wichita and   ) 
Affiliated Tribes,      ) 
S. ROBERT WHITE, JR., in his official   ) 
capacity as Treasurer of the Wichita and   ) 
Affiliated Tribes,      ) 
SHIRLEY DAVILA, in her official capacity ) 
as Committee Member of the Wichita and  ) 
Affiliated Tribes,      ) 
GLADYS WALKER, in her official capacity ) 
as Committee Member of the Wichita and  ) 
Affiliated Tribes, and    ) 
KAREN THOMPSON, in her official capacity ) 
as Committee Member of the Wichita and  ) 
Affiliated Tribes     )  
       )      
Defendants.      ) 
 
 
 

PLAINTIFF’S BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF EMERGENCY MOTION FOR 
TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER 
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I.! Introduction 
 

Plaintiff Caddo Nation, under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 65(b) (“Fed. R. Civ. 

Pro.”), respectfully asks this Court to enter a temporary restraining order enjoining 

Defendants Wichita and Affiliated Tribes (“Wichita Tribe”), Wichita Tribe’s President 

Terri Parton (“President Parton”), and other elected officials of the Wichita Tribe from 

continuing construction on a history center (the “History Center”) on lands that are 

jointly held in trust by the United States for the benefit of three Tribes (Caddo Nation, 

Delaware Nation, and Wichita Tribe), and located one and one-quarter miles north of 

Anadarko, Oklahoma.  Plaintiff requests this TRO to preserve the status quo and prevent 

irreparable harm until a full and complete hearing on whether a preliminary and/or 

permanent injunction should issue halting this construction project.   

Time is of the essence.  After threatening to move forward with construction in 

spite of demands from the Caddo Nation to wait until ground-penetrating radar (“GPR”) 

testing for burials and/or sacred objects could be completed at the site, the Wichita Tribe 

moved forward today with pouring concrete for the foundation of the History Center.  

Pouring concrete jeopardizes the ability of the Caddo Nation and its experts to effectively 

test the site because the concrete limits the functionality of the testing technology.   

Immediate injunctive relief is appropriate here because Plaintiff is able to 

establish all four requisite factors this Court must consider.  See Kiowa Indian Tribe 

of Oklahoma v. Hoover, 150 F.3d 1163, 1171 (10th Cir. 1998).  That is, injunctive 

relief under Fed. Civ. Pro. R. 65(b) is appropriate where Plaintiff can establish, as 

they can here, that: 
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(1) [T]he movant will suffer irreparable harm unless the 
injunction issues; (2) there is a substantial likelihood the 
movant ultimately will prevail on the merits; (3) the threatened 
injury to the movant outweighs any harm the proposed 
injunction may cause the opposing party; and (4) the injunction 
would not be contrary to the public interest. 

 
Id. 
 

Furthermore, where Plaintiff can meet the burden of proof, demonstrate that 

they will suffer irreparable harm, demonstrate that the balance of harms weighs in 

their favor, and establish that injunctive relief does not go against public policy, then 

the requirement of showing a substantial likelihood of success on the merits: 

[B]ecomes less strict—i.e., instead of showing a substantial 
likelihood of success, the party need only prove that there are 
“questions going to the merits … so serious, substantial, 
difficult, and doubtful as to make the issue ripe for litigation 
and deserving of more deliberate investigation.” 
 

 Prairie Band Potawatomi Indians v. Pierce, 253 F.3d 1234, 1246-47 (10th Cir. 

2001) (internal citations omitted). 

For reasons described in greater detail below, Plaintiff has more than met this 

standard.   

II.! Argument 
 

a.! Plaintiff Will Incur Irreparable Harm if the Injunction is Denied 

Absent preliminary injunctive relief, the construction of the History Center will 

proceed.  The construction of a permanent structure on a site considered sacred by the 

Caddo people, a site that Caddo elders believe contains their buried relatives, would 

constitute irreparable and irreversible harm.  The irreparable harm is even more apparent 
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here because Defendants have stated they intend to pour concrete.  Once Defendants have 

poured concrete for the foundation of the History Center, the GPR technological 

equipment Plaintiffs intend to use to ascertain the volume and location of Caddo remains, 

commonplace for use in human remains studies, will not function properly.   

Plaintiff, therefore, will suffer irreparable harm if an injunction is not issued 

because there is no “effective monetary remedy . . . that would [] adequate[ly]” 

compensate them for the damages they will sustain should Defendants continue with 

construction of the History Center.  Dominion Video Satellite, Inc. v. EchoStar Satellite 

Corp., 269 F.3d 1149, 1156 (10th Cir. 2001); see also Quechan Tribe of Fort Yuma 

Indian Reservation v. U.S. Dep’t of Interior, 755 F. Supp. 2d 1104, 1120 (S.D. Cal. 2010) 

(finding that irreparable harm standard is met when damage or destruction could occur on 

lands that “contain human remains”).  Defendants’ threatened harm to Plaintiff’s cultural 

patrimony is a harm that no money can restore.  If and when Caddo remains are 

disturbed, the damage will be irreparable.   

b.! The Threatened Harm to Plaintiff Outweighs any Harm to Defendants 
if and When the Injunction is Granted 
 

Should construction continue, Caddo remains and/or cultural patrimony may be 

destroyed.  Defendants, however, face only a delay in construction.  Plaintiff merely 

seeks to preserve the status quo while the Court reviews their claims.   

In light of these circumstances, the potential harm to the Plaintiff greatly 

outweighs any adverse consequences to Defendants resulting from issuance of the 

restraining order.  Defendants’ only harm would be cost associated with delay in 
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construction.  Such harm is inadequate to tip the scales in their favor as Defendants alone 

are responsible for their own failure to comply with the procedural requirements in 

NHPA and NEPA; indeed they “have ‘jumped the gun’ . . . by entering into contractual 

obligations that anticipated a pro forma result. . . [and are thus] largely responsible for 

their own harm.”  Davis v. Mineta, 302 F.3d 1104, 1116 (10th Cir. 2002). 

The monetary damages Defendants may incur if an injunction issues pale in 

comparison to the prospect of irreparable harm to sacred lands and Caddo burials which 

would occur absent injunctive relief.  See, e.g., Comanche Nation v. United States, No. 

CIV-08-849-D, 2008 WL 4426621, *19 (W.D. Okla. Sept. 23, 2008) (“The construction 

of a permanent structure on a site considered sacred by the Comanche people, and the 

substantial burden the presence of the structure would impose . . . would constitute 

irreparable harm.”).   

The balance of harms, therefore, weighs heavily in Plaintiff’s favor. 

c.! Issuance of an Injunction Would Serve, Not Harm, the Public Interest 
 
 The protection and preservation of historic landmarks and lands that contain the 

remains of an Indian Nation’s citizens is consistent with expressions of public policy 

embodied in both the National Historic Preservation Act (“NHPA”), 54 U.S.C. § 300101 

et seq.,1 and the National Environmental Policy Act (“NEPA”), 42 U.S.C. § 4321 et seq., 

and therefore is not contrary, but instead fully supports, the public interest.  See Section 

1(b)(4) of the National Historic Preservation Act, Pub. L. No. 89-665, as amended by 

                                                
1  The NHPA was formerly codified at 16 U.S.C. § 470 et seq.  
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Pub. L. No. 96-515.  It is also within the public interest for federal agencies to be held to 

their consultation obligations regarding historical and cultural sites, and for parties 

affected by federal actions on federal lands to have a voice in the decision-making 

process—particularly where those interested parties are federally-recognized tribes. 

Indeed, public interest is harmed where the Federal Government’s fiduciary duty 

to consult with Indian Nations is not carried out or fully effectuated, as was the case here.  

See, e.g., Pit River Tribe v. United States Forest Service, 469 F.3d 768, 788 (9th Cir. 

2006) (“Because we conclude that the agencies violated both NEPA and NHPA during 

the leasing and approval process, it follows that the agencies violated their minimum 

fiduciary duty to the Pit River Tribe when they violated the statutes.”). 

Here, the public interest would best be served by the granting of Plaintiff’s 

requested temporary restraining order and ordering Defendants to engage in good faith 

consultation with Plaintiffs as required by federal law.   

d.! Plaintiff Has Demonstrated the Requisite Likelihood of Success on the 
Merits 
 

Defendants’ blatant failure to comply with the plain letter law of both NHPA and 

NEPA render this Court’s granting of Plaintiff’s motion for temporary restraining order 

both necessary and appropriate.   

Plaintiff will likely succeed on their claim that Defendants violated NHPA since 

the law requires Defendants to make a “reasonable and good faith effort” to identify 

Indian Tribes who may attach “religious and cultural significance” to historic properties 

that may be affected by the proposed undertaking and invite them to participate as 
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consulting parties in the Section 106 process; under the clear language of the governing 

regulations, Defendants failed to properly do so.2  See 36 C.F.R. § 800.2(c)(2)(ii) (A)-

(D); § 800.3(f)(2).  Defendants’ efforts to consult consist of nothing more than mailing a 

single letter. 

The Tenth Circuit has recognized that merely sending a letter, however, is not 

sufficient—particularly where an agency, or the Indian Nation assuming the duties of the 

agency, has knowledge of a significant historic or cultural property that will be impacted 

by the agency’s actions.  Pueblo of Sandia v. United States, 50 F.3d 856, 860 (10th Cir. 

1995) (concluding that where the Forest Service only mailed letters to Tribes and 

individual tribal members requesting information about the cultural significance, “a mere 

request for information is not [] sufficient to constitute the ‘reasonable effort’ section 106 

requires.”).  Defendants’ failure to engage in good faith consultation with Plaintiff 

demonstrates a likelihood of success on the merits sufficient to grant Plaintiff’s motion 

for temporary restraining order.     

Plaintiff is also able to establish the requisite likelihood of success on the merits 

concerning their claims that Defendants violated NEPA and the Administrative Procedure 

Act (“APA”), 5 U.S.C. §701 et seq., by unlawfully commencing construction on the 

History Center, a project that constitutes “major federal action” under federal law, but for 

which there has been no adequate consultation or consideration of reasonable alternatives 

                                                
2  Because Defendant received federal funds for the construction of their History 

Center on WCD lands, Defendants’ project constitutes a federal undertaking, triggering 
the consultation requirements under NHPA § 106.   

Case 5:16-cv-00559-HE   Document 4   Filed 05/25/16   Page 7 of 11



 8 

in compliance with NEPA’s fundamental mandates.  An agency must meaningfully 

consider and discuss alternatives in the process of reaching a decision.  See Or. Natural 

Desert Ass’n v. Bureau of Land Mgmt., 531 F.3d 1114, 1121 (9th Cir. 2008) (reasoning 

that in undertaking the requisite alternatives analysis, the agency must “[r]igorously 

explore and objectively evaluate all reasonable alternatives, and for alternatives which 

were eliminated from detailed study, briefly discuss the reasons for their having been 

eliminated”) (quoting 40 C.F.R. § 1502.14).  Here, Defendants have made no attempt to 

consider, discuss, or even mention alternatives.  In fact, the Environmental Assessment 

(“EA”) prepared by Defendants states that the Wichita Tribe has not considered a single 

alternative site.  Environmental Assessment for HUD-funded Proposals, Project 

Identification #B-14-SR-40-3286, p. 8, May 15, 2015 (“EA”), attached herein as Exhibit 

1.  This alone constitutes harm since as soon as “the decision has been made without 

meaningful consideration of a reasonable alternative, the harm envisioned by NEPA has 

been done.”  Dine Citizens Against Ruining Our Environment v. Klein, 747 F.Supp.2d 

1234, 1256 (D. Colo. Oct. 28, 2010). 

Defendants’ failure to consider even a single alternative thus constitutes a prima 

facie violation of NEPA.  See Ohio Forestry Ass’n v. Sierra Club, 523 U.S. 726, 737 

(1998) (noting that NEPA elevates form over substance, and as a result, a person who is 

injured by “failure to comply with the NEPA procedure may complain of that failure at 

the time the failure takes place, for the claim can never get riper.”).  Because the statute is 

procedural in nature, federal courts “will set aside agency actions that are adopted 

Case 5:16-cv-00559-HE   Document 4   Filed 05/25/16   Page 8 of 11



 9 

‘without observance of procedure required by law.’”  Natural Res. Def. Council v. U.S. 

Forest Serv., 421 F.3d 797, 810 n. 27 (9th Cir. 2005) (quoting 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(D)). 

Defendants have further violated NEPA by failing to provide adequate notice of 

their “Finding of No Significant Impact” or “FONSI.”  Under federal law, “[m]ere 

publication of the FONSI is not [] sufficient.”  Dine Citizens Against Ruining Our 

Environment v. Klein, 747 F.Supp.2d 1234, 1261 (D. Colo. Oct. 28, 2010).  Because 

Defendants did nothing more than publish their FONSI in a local (non-tribal) newspaper, 

Defendants failed to satisfy one of NEPA’s most fundamental requirements:  public 

notice. 

For the aforementioned reasons, Plaintiff’s claims are demonstrably meritorious 

and Plaintiff has therefore established the requisite likelihood of success to justify the 

granting of their motion for temporary restraining order.  When coupled with the 

impending irreparable injury to Caddo remains and sacred lands, as well as damage to the 

trust lands beneficially co-owned by two federally recognized Tribes (Caddo and 

Delaware) who never consented to the construction Defendants now attempt to 

commence, Defendants’ failure to comply with NHPA and NEPA compels this Court’s 

intervention and imposition of injunctive relief.   

II.! Request for Waiver of Security 

Plaintiff respectfully requests a waiver of the security under Fed. R. Civ. P. 65(c), 

or, in the alternative, for a nominal security.  As demonstrated above, issuance of a 

T.R.O. and a preliminary injunction would not result in any harm—financial or 
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otherwise—to Defendants that would necessitate security.   

Further, where, as here, the overwhelming balance of hardships rests on Plaintiff 

and not Defendants, security is generally not required.  See Elliott v. Kiesewetter, 98 F.3d 

47, 60 (3d Cir. 1996).  The Court should waive security or, in the alternative, require only 

nominal security from Caddo Nation.  

Dated this 25th day of May, 2016. 
 
 
 
       By: s/ Abi Fain 

Wilson Pipestem, OBA No. 16877 
Abi Fain, OBA No. 31370 
Pipestem Law, P.C. 

                 320 S. Boston Ave., Suite 1705 
                 Tulsa, OK 74103 

Telephone: 918-936-4705                
Fax: 918-584-1425 
wkpipestem@pipestemlaw.com 
afain@pipestemlaw.com 

                        
Attorney for Plaintiff Caddo Nation!
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
I, Abi Fain, certify that a true and correct copy of the above and foregoing was served 
this 25th day of May, 2016, via process server, U.S. First Class Mail postage prepaid, or 
facsimile: 
 
Mrs. Terri Parton 
President of Wichita and Affiliated Tribes 
P.O. Box 729 
1 and 1/4 miles north on Highway 281 
Anadarko, Oklahoma 73005 
 
Mr. William Norman 
Hobbs Strauss Dean & Walker, LLP 
117 Park Ave. #200 
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73102 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 By: s/ Abi Fain 
 Abi Fain 
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